RECEIVED

Jul 20 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Dale E. Van Slambrook, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-001088
Civil Action No. 2025-CP-08-01735

Robin Lee Hatch, Respondent,

v.

Cynthia O. Robinson; Lyft, Inc.; Lyft Drives South
Carolina, Inc.,

Of which Lyft, Inc., d/b/a Lyft Drives South Carolina, Inc.
is the Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Blake T. Williams
Email: blake.williams@nelsonmullins.com
Yasmeen Ebbini
Email: yasmeen.ebbini@nelsonmullins.com
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err by addressing gateway arbitrability issues in the face of the valid, enforceable, and unchallenged delegation clause in the parties' Arbitration Agreement reserving such determinations for the arbitrator?
2. Did the Circuit Court err by finding the Arbitration Agreement in Lyft's Terms of Service unconscionable notwithstanding Respondent's failure to provide any evidence that she lacked meaningful choice or that the terms were illegally one sided and oppressive?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises from the Circuit Court’s Order erroneously denying Appellant Lyft Inc, d/b/a Lyft Drives South Carolina, Inc.’s (“Lyft” or “Appellant”) Motion to Compel Arbitration. In denying Lyft’s motion, the Circuit Court ignored the parties’ valid delegation clause and made improper rulings on the unconscionability of the Arbitration Agreement despite the parties’ express agreement to have all gateway issues regarding scope, validity, and enforceability determined by the arbitrator and Respondent’s failure to challenge (or even mention) the delegation clause below. Therefore, the Circuit Court erred by “overrid[ing] the contract and decid[ing] the arbitrability question.” *Palmetto Wildlife Extractors, LLC v. Ludy*, 435 S.C. 690, 700, 869 S.E.2d 859, 864 (Ct. App. 2022) (quoting *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & s Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63, 69 (2019) (same)). This Court should reverse.

This genesis of this matter was a car accident that occurred on July 13, 2022 while Defendant Cynthia Robinson was performing Rideshare Services for Respondent through the Lyft Platform (“Accident”). Respondent alleges that, during the course of the ride, Defendant Robinson allegedly struck another vehicle causing injuries to Respondent. (*See* Compl. ¶¶ 1–4; R. __.)

Lyft is a transportation network company that “uses a digital network, platform, or Internet-enabled application to connect a passenger to a transportation network driver for the purpose of providing transportation for compensation using a vehicle.” S.C. Code Ann. § 58-23-1610. In other words, Lyft operates a peer-to-peer software platform that connects users seeking rides to certain destinations (“riders”) with independent contractor drivers (“drivers”) who provide rides using personal vehicles. (Mot. to Compel, Ex. A – Carr Decl. ¶ 4; R. __.) The Lyft software Platform includes Lyft’s website, technology platform, and mobile device application (the “Lyft App”).

(*Id.*) The Lyft App offers a method to connect drivers and riders and allows those two groups to communicate. (*Id.* ¶¶ 5, 6; R. __.)

Users cannot access the Lyft Platform to request Rideshare Services unless they first create a Lyft user account using the Lyft App and agree to Lyft’s Terms of Service (“Terms” or “TOS”). After creating an account, users are prompted periodically to reaffirm their acceptance of Lyft’s updated Terms if they wish to continue using the Lyft Platform.

Lyft’s Terms have at all times included a mutual arbitration agreement (the “Arbitration Agreement”). (Mot. to Compel, Ex. A ¶¶ 7–8; R. __.) The first page of the Terms contains the following notice in all caps:

PLEASE BE ADVISED: THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS PROVISIONS THAT GOVERN HOW CLAIMS BETWEEN YOU AND LYFT CAN BE BROUGHT ([SEE SECTION 17 BELOW](#)). THESE PROVISIONS WILL, WITH LIMITED EXCEPTION, REQUIRE YOU TO SUBMIT CLAIMS YOU HAVE AGAINST LYFT TO BINDING AND FINAL ARBITRATION . . .

(Exs. A-3, A-5, A-7– Lyft TOS; R. __.) The “SEE SECTION 17 BELOW” is a blue internal jump link that would take the viewer directly to the full Arbitration Agreement. (*See* Mot. to Compel, Ex. A, ¶ 17; R. __.) The Arbitration Agreement states that Lyft and any prospective user mutually agree that all claims between them “arising out of or relating to . . . the Lyft Platform” and/or “Rideshare Services” are subject to arbitration and that the Federal Arbitration Act would govern. (*See* Mot. to Compel, Exs. A-3, A-5, A-7; R. __.) It states in relevant part:

17. DISPUTE RESOLUTION AND ARBITRATION AGREEMENT

YOU AND LYFT MUTUALLY AGREE TO WAIVE OUR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES IN A COURT OF LAW BY A JUDGE OR JURY AND AGREE TO RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE BY ARBITRATION, as set forth below. This agreement to arbitrate (“Arbitration Agreement”) is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”); . . . This

Arbitration Agreement Survives after the Agreement terminates or your relationship with Lyft ends.

Except as expressly provided below, ALL DISPUTES AND CLAIMS BETWEEN US (EACH A “CLAIM” AND COLLECTIVELY, “CLAIMS”) SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESOLVED BY BINDING ARBITRATION SOLELY BETWEEN YOU AND LYFT. These Claims include, but are not limited to, any dispute, claim or controversy, whether based on past, present, or future events, arising out of or relating to: this Agreement and prior versions thereof (including the breach, termination, enforcement, interpretation or validity thereof), the Lyft Platform, the Rideshare Services, . . . your relationship with Lyft . . . and all other federal and state statutory and common law claims. All disputes concerning the arbitrability of a Claim (including disputes about the scope, applicability, enforceability, revocability or validity of the Arbitration Agreement) shall be decided by the arbitrator, except as expressly provided below.

(Mot. to Compel, Exs. A-3, ¶ 17(a), A-5, ¶ 17(a), A-7 ¶ 17(a); R. __.) The Arbitration Agreement further expressly provides that by agreeing to arbitration “YOU AND LYFT ARE WAIVING THE RIGHT TO SUE IN COURT OR HAVE A JURY TRIAL FOR ALL CLAIMS, EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THIS ARBITRATION AGREEMENT.” (*Id.*) Critically, the Arbitration Agreement contains a delegation clause providing that the arbitrator possesses the *sole* authority to resolve any disputes concerning the “arbitrability of a Claim” including the “scope, applicability, enforceability, revocability or validity of the Arbitration Agreement.” (*Id.*)

On November 30, 2018, Respondent created a Lyft user account and affirmatively accepted Lyft’s TOS dated February 6, 2018. (Mot. to Compel, Ex. A ¶ 12; R. __.) Thereafter, Respondent, like all users, was required to accept periodic updates to the TOS if she desired to continue using the Lyft Platform. (*Id.* ¶¶ 8, 12.) Respondent did so, affirmatively accepting Lyft’s updated Terms on three (3) occasions before the Accident as follows:

- Lyft updated its TOS August 26, 2019. (*Id.* ¶12) Lyft notified Respondent of the updated TOS directly by email with the subject line: “We’re updating our Terms of Service.” (*Id.*) The email explained to Respondent that the August 26, 2019, TOS included revisions regarding “dispute resolution.” (*Id.*) The email also provided a pink hyperlink to full text of the August 26, 2019 TOS. (*Id.*) Respondent then affirmatively accepted this version of the TOS within the Lyft App on December 16, 2019, and again on June 23, 2020. (*Id.*)
- Lyft next updated its TOS on December 9, 2020, and again notified Respondent of the by email with the subject line: “We’re updating our Terms of Service.” The email specifically explained to Respondent that the December 9, 2020, TOS included “revisions to our Dispute Resolution and Arbitration Agreement, which explains how legal dispute are handled.” The email also included a blue hyperlink to the December 9, 2020, TOS and stated in bold and underline: **“Your continued use of Lyft will confirm that you have reviewed and agreed to the updated Terms.”** (*Id.*; Mot. to Compel, Ex. A-6; R. ____.) Respondent then affirmatively accepted the December 9, 2020, TOS on April 7, 2021. (Mot. to Compel, Exs. A ¶ 12, A-2 – Consent History; R. ____.)

The December 9, 2020 TOS was in effect as to Respondent on the date of the Accident. (*Id.*) At the time Respondent accepted the December 9, 2020 TOS, she was presented with the full text of the Terms directly on the screen of the Lyft App immediately below a banner stating: “Before you can proceed you must read and agree to Lyft’s Terms of Service.” (*Id.* at ¶ 15; R. ____.) At the bottom of the screen—immediately under the full text of the Lyft Terms—the Lyft App presented Respondent with a large “I Agree” button, which she was required to click to demonstrate consent and agreement to be bound by the Terms to proceed with using the Lyft App. (*Id.* ¶ 16; R. ____.) A full copy of the current Terms was also accessible to Respondent at any time on Lyft’s website and within the Lyft App. (*Id.* at ¶ 9; R. ____.)

By affirmatively accepting Lyft’s Terms and reaffirming that acceptance, Respondent agreed to be bound by the Arbitration Agreement. (*Id.*) Because Respondent agreed to be bound the Arbitration Agreement, she was able to use the Lyft App to request and/or purchase Rideshare Services on 55 separate occasions. (Mot. to Compel, Ex. A ¶ 13; R. ____.) Respondent could not have requested or purchased those Rideshare Services without affirmatively consenting to the

Terms. (*Id.*) Indeed, Respondent has never disputed that she accepted the Terms or the benefits that flowed therefrom. (*See generally* Memo in Opp’n; R. __.)

Respondent’s Complaint alleges that on July 13, 2022, she requested a ride through the Lyft Platform and was riding as a passenger in Defendant Robinson’s vehicle while Robinson was providing Rideshare Services. (*See* Compl. ¶¶ 1–3; R. __.) Respondent alleges she was injured when Defendant Robinson ran a stop sign and struck another vehicle while failing to yield the right of way. (*Id.*)

In May 2025, Respondent filed suit asserting claims of negligence, gross negligence, and recklessness against Defendant Robinson. (*Id.* ¶¶ 15–22.; R. __.) Respondent contended that Lyft is liable for Robinson’s actions under *respondeat superior* for negligent hiring and negligent supervision since she was providing services on the Lyft Platform when the accident occurred. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 23–40; R. __.)

In response, Lyft filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration (the “Motion”) requesting that the matter be compelled to arbitration in light of the Arbitration Agreement in the Lyft TOS. (Mot. to Compel; R. __.) Respondent opposed the Motion, contending that the TOS was an unconscionable adhesion contract and the Arbitration Agreement contained oppressive and one-sided terms. (Mem. in Opp’n pp. 3–4; R. __.) Critically, ***Respondent made no mention of the delegation clause.*** Lyft then filed a Reply arguing that Respondent’s arguments regarding enforceability and unconscionability must be determined by the arbitrator in light of the unchallenged delegation clause. (Reply; R. __.)

The Circuit Court held a hearing on January 5, 2026. (Transcript of 1/5/2026 Hrg.; R. __.) Respondent again focused her arguments on unconscionability and did not challenge the delegation clause even after Lyft expressly raised the fact that Respondent had ignored this

threshold issue entirely. (*Id.* at 14:8–17; R. __.) Respondent argued that she had no understanding of what she was agreeing to when she clicked “I agree” on the Terms more than 15 months before she requested the ride, her claims did not fall within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement, and the lack of meaningful choice rendered the Terms unconscionable. (*See id.* at 11:16–12:1–7; R. __.)

On February 20, 2026, the Circuit Court issued an Order denying Lyft’s Motion. The Order failed to mention or address the delegation clause. Instead, the Order proceeded to address the merits of Respondent’s unconscionability argument. The Circuit Court found the TOS is an unconscionable adhesion contract, and that Respondent “did not have the business judgment to understand the effect of the arbitration clause contained in the Terms of Service agreement and did not have counsel present to provide assistance during the account creation process.” (Order p. 4; R. __.) The Circuit Court further concluded that the Arbitration Agreement contained “several oppressive and one-sided terms,” such as “the waiver of a jury trial, inability to appeal the arbitration decision, and inability to participate in a class action.” (*Id.* p. 5; R. __.)

Lyft timely filed a Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. (Mot. to Reconsider; R. __.) The Circuit Court denied this motion by Form 4 Order dated April 16, 2026. (Form 4 Order; R. __.) Lyft timely filed and served its Notice of Appeal on April 28, 2026. (Not. of Appeal; R. __.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Each of the legal issues on appeal are subject to de novo review. *Chassereau v. Global Sun Pools, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 168, 171, 644 S.E.2d 718, 720 (2007) (appeal from denial of a motion to compel arbitration); *One Belle Hall Prop. Owners Ass’n, Inc. v. Trammell Crow Residential Co.*, 418 S.C. 51, 59, 791 S.E.2d 286, 291 (Ct. App. 2016) (appeal of arbitrability determination); *Smith*

v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 403 S.C. 10, 13, 742 S.E.2d 37, 39 (Ct. App. 2013) (determining agreement is unconscionable).

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court erred by deciding gateway issues delegated to the arbitrator.

This case presents a straightforward issue regarding the application of a valid and unchallenged delegation clause. By accepting Lyft's Terms—on four (4) separate occasions—Respondent indisputably agreed to the Arbitration Agreement. The Arbitration Agreement contains a broad delegation clause requiring the arbitrator to resolve all gateway issues, including the scope, applicability, validity and enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement. (Mot. to Compel, Exs. A-3, ¶ 17(a), A-5, ¶ 17(a), A-7 ¶ 17(a); R. ____.) Respondent has not raised any challenge to the delegation clause. Therefore, as noted above, the Circuit Court erred by “overrid[ing] the contract and decide the arbitrability question.” *Palmetto Wildlife Extractors*, 435 S.C. at 700, 869 S.E.2d at 864 (citing *Henry Schein*, 586 U.S. at 69). This was reversible error.

A. Respondent entered into a binding and enforceable Arbitration Agreement with Lyft containing a delegation clause.

State law governs whether an agreement to arbitrate was formed. *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan* 514 U.S. 938, 944 (1995). To form an agreement in South Carolina, there must be: (1) an offer, (2) acceptance, and (3) valuable consideration. *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C.*, 354 S.C. 397, 406, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003).

The Circuit Court correctly found that an agreement to arbitrate exists. Indeed, Respondent has never disputed the existence of such an agreement or that she validly accepted Lyft's TOS on several different occasions by clicking “I agree” in the Lyft App. Respondent thus affirmatively agreed to Lyft's Terms (the offer), acknowledging her consent within the Lyft App by clicking a button labeled “I Agree” (the acceptance) which was presented to her beneath the full text of Lyft's

TOS. (*See* Mot. to Compel, Ex. A, ¶ 15; R. __ (“Plaintiff was required to click to demonstrate consent and agreement to be bound by the Terms of Service and to proceed with use of the Lyft App.”).)

The Arbitration Agreement plainly states that Lyft and Respondent “AGREE TO WAIVE OUR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES IN A COURT OF LAW BY A JUDGE OR JURY AND AGREE TO RESOLVE ANY DISPUTE BY ARBITRATION.” (Mot. to Compel, Exs. A-3, ¶ 17(a), A-5, ¶ 17(a), A-7 ¶ 17(a); R. __.) Importantly, the Arbitration Agreement also clearly and unmistakably sets forth the parties’ “additional antecedent agreement”—a mutual delegation clause expressly delegating to the arbitrator exclusive authority to resolve any disputes regarding arbitrability, including those concerning the “scope, applicability, enforceability, revocability or validity of the Arbitration Agreement.” (*Id.*)

In return for Respondent’s consent to the TOS, including the mutual Arbitration Agreement, Lyft provided Respondent with access to the Lyft Platform that she used to purchase Rideshare Services on 55 occasions. (*See* Mot. to Compel, Ex. A, ¶ 13; R. __.) This suffices to establish consideration. *See e.g., Osvatics v. Lyft, Inc.*, 535 F. Supp. 3d 1, 10–11 (D.D.C. 2021) (Jackson, J.) (Lyft and plaintiff “exchanged adequate consideration” and were therefore required to arbitrate because, “in return [for the plaintiff’s] assent to its arbitration clause, Lyft provided [the plaintiff] with access to its application” and “further agreed to arbitrate any disputes between the parties.”); *accord Mohammed v. Uber Technologies, Inc.* No. 16 C 2537, 2018 WL 1184733, at *6, *8 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 7, 2018) (“Uber provided consideration for the agreement through providing [plaintiff] with the benefits of its [ridesharing platform] app and connection to its riders.”).

Therefore, Lyft indisputably established the existence of a valid Arbitration Agreement with Respondent, and since Lyft and Respondent have expressly agreed to delegate resolution of all enforceability questions (including unconscionability, as detailed below) to the arbitrator, this ends the Court's inquiry as detailed below.

B. The Circuit Court erred by overriding the delegation clause in the Arbitration Agreement delegating all gateway issues to the arbitrator for determination.

1. The FAA requires that a delegation clause—like any agreement to arbitrate—be enforced according to its terms.

The Arbitration Agreement is governed by the FAA, which Respondent has also never disputed. The FAA provides, in relevant part, that “[a] written provision in any . . . contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract . . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. When an action subject to arbitration is brought in court, the court “*shall* make an order directing the parties to proceed to arbitration.” 9 U.S.C. §§ 3–4 (emphasis added).

The FAA “leaves no place for the exercise of discretion . . . but instead mandates that [] courts shall direct the parties to proceed to arbitration on issues as to which an arbitration agreement has been signed.” *Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 218 (1985); *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 592, 553 S.E.2d 110, 116 (2001) (The FAA “requires courts to enforce privately negotiated agreements to arbitrate, like other contracts, in accordance with their terms”) (internal quotations omitted)).

Ordinarily, “the court, rather than an arbitrator, will decide ‘gateway’ issues related to arbitration, including whether the arbitration agreement is valid and enforceable and whether it covers the parties’ dispute.” *Doe v. TCSC, LLC*, 430 S.C. 602, 608, 846 S.E.2d 874, 877 (Ct. App. 2020). However, arbitration is a matter of contract, and the FAA allows parties to resolve by their

contract the question of “who has the primary power to decide” disputes regarding gateway arbitrability questions. *Coinbase, Inc. v. Suski*, 602 U.S. 143, 148–49 (2024). *See also Sanders v. Savannah Highway Auto. Co.*, 440 S.C. 377, 384, 892 S.E.2d 112, 115 (2023) (“[T]he Supreme Court has consistently held that parties may delegate threshold arbitrability questions to the arbitrator, so long as the parties’ agreement does so by ‘clear and unmistakable’ evidence.”) (quoting *Henry Schein*, 586 U.S. at 69)).

“Just as the arbitrability of the merits of a dispute depends upon whether the parties agreed to arbitrate that dispute, so the question ‘who has the primary power to decide arbitrability’ turns upon what the parties agreed about that matter.” *First Options*, 514 U.S. at 943 (citations omitted). “As long as the parties’ agreement delegates the arbitrability question to an arbitrator ‘by clear and unmistakable evidence,’ a court may not override the contract and decide the arbitrability question.” *Palmetto Wildlife Extractors*, 435 S.C. at 700, 869 S.E.2d at 864 (quoting *Henry Schein*, 586 U.S. at 69). To do otherwise would contravene the FAA’s mandate that arbitration agreements—whether governing the resolution of substantive claims, issues of arbitrability, or any other dispute—be placed “on an equal footing with other contracts,” and “enforce[d] ... according to their terms.” *Rent-A-Ctr., W., Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 67 (2010) (citations omitted).

2. Lyft and Respondent clearly and unmistakably agreed to arbitrate all gateway issues.

The delegation clause in the Arbitration Agreement is clear and unmistakable. It plainly provides that “[a]ll disputes concerning the arbitrability of a Claim (including disputes about the scope, applicability, enforceability, revocability or validity of the Arbitration Agreement) shall be decided by the arbitrator.” (Mot. to Compel, Exs. A-3, ¶ 17(a) & A-5, ¶ 17(a); R. ___ (emphasis added).) This statement reflects the parties’ clear intention to delegate resolution of all gateway issues, including whether the claims fall within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement

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