RECEIVED

Aug 19 2026

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Dale E. Van Slambrook, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-001088
Civil Action No. 2025-CP-08-01735

Robin Lee Hatch,.....Respondent,

v.

Cynthia O. Robinson; Lyft, Inc.; Lyft Drives South
Carolina, Inc.,

Of which Lyft, Inc. d/b/a Lyft Drives South Carolina,
Inc. is the.....Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

POULIN | WILLEY

/s/ Matthew J. Burgess
Matthew J. Burgess, Esq. (S.C. Bar No.: 100911)
Poulin, Willey, Anastopoulos, LLC
32 Ann Street
Charleston, SC 29403
P: (803) 222-2222
F: (843) 353-1604

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Circuit Court properly denied Lyft's Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration because the arbitration clause was unconscionable and unenforceable.

Lyft's second issue on appeal challenges the Circuit Court's unconscionability ruling. That challenge should be rejected, as the lower court applied the correct South Carolina framework and made findings supported by the Terms of Service and the manner in which Lyft presented them to Respondent.

In the context of arbitration clauses, unconscionability requires consideration of meaningful choice and whether the challenged terms are oppressive or one-sided. Unsurprisingly, arbitration clauses are often found in contracts of adhesion. An adhesion contract is a standard form contract offered on a "take-it-or-leave it" basis with terms that are not negotiable. *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 541, 542 S.E.2d 260, 365 (2001). And while an arbitration clause in an adhesion contract is not per se unconscionable, it is a strong

indication that there was a lack of meaningful choice in negotiating the terms of the contract and is met with “considerable skepticism” by courts.

Unconscionability consists of absence of meaningful choice due to one-sided contract provisions together with terms so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them, and no fair and honest person would accept them. *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 25, 644 S.E.2d 663, 669 (2007). The Circuit Court applied the precedent established in *Simpson* when denying Appellants’ Motion to Stay Proceedings and Compel Arbitration. The Circuit Court also cited *Gladden v Boykin*, 402 S.C. 140, 148, 739 S.E.2d 882, 886 (2013), for the principle that meaningful choice concerns the fundamental fairness of the bargaining process (*See Order Denying Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration at ¶ 4*). The Circuit Court further cited S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-302(1) for the rule that, if a court finds a contract clause unconscionable at the time it was made, the court may refuse to enforce the clause or limit its application to avoid an unconscionable result. *Id.*

In this case, the bargaining process was not fair in any meaningful sense. The Circuit Court properly found that Lyft’s Terms of Service were an adhesion contract, that the terms were not negotiable on Respondent’s behalf, and that they were presented on a take-it-or-leave-it basis (*See Order Denying Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration at ¶ 7*). The court’s finding was grounded in Lyft’s own position. Lyft conceded that a rider cannot complete the account creation process or purchase rideshare services through the Lyft app unless the person affirmatively accepts and agrees to be bound by Lyft’s terms (*See App’s Motion to Compel Arbitration at ¶ 10*). This is not a negotiated commercial agreement. It is a consumer mobile-app contract drafted entirely by Lyft and imposed as a condition of using a transportation service.

The Circuit Court also properly considered the disparity between Lyft and Respondent. The court found that Respondent did not have the business judgment to understand the effect of the arbitration clause and did not have counsel present to provide assistance during the account creation process (*See* Order Denying Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration at ¶ 6). Lyft treats the court’s findings as improper, but they apply directly to the fairness of the bargaining process. The subject transaction occurred through a cell phone application – not through a negotiated contract in which Respondent could revise terms, ask legal questions, or obtain counsel before accepting. The fact that a consumer clicked “I agree” does not, standing alone, require enforcement of an unconscionable arbitration clause.

The Circuit Court further identified oppressive terms contained within Lyft’s agreement. The court specifically identified Section 15 of the Terms of Service, which stated that Lyft would not be liable for any ‘incidental, special, exemplary, punitive, consequential, or indirect damages arising out of or in connection with the Lyft Platform, Rideshare Services, or the agreement, including negligence.’ The court found that this provision essentially rendered Lyft immune from liability under any scenario and was ‘impermissibly onerous’ (*See* Order Denying Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration at ¶ 8). In a case where Respondent seeks recovery for injuries allegedly sustained during a Lyft ride, that limitation of liability was not a collateral abstraction. It bore directly on the practical consequence of enforcing Lyft’s contractual scheme.

Lyft argues that the Circuit Court could not consider Section 15 of the Terms of Service in rendering their decision, as it was outside the provisions of the dispute resolution and arbitration agreement contained in Section 17. That argument elevates contract labeling over reality. The arbitration clause did not appear in isolation. It was part of the same Terms of Service that Lyft required Respondent to accept as a package. Lyft cannot compel Respondent

into arbitration under Section 17 of the Terms of Service while asking the court to ignore the rest of the same take-it-or-leave-it styled contract that shaped the right available to Respondent.

The Circuit Court identified additional oppressive features. The court found that the arbitration clause included waiver of jury trial, an inability to appeal the arbitration decision, inability to participate in a class action lawsuit, and that the arbitration provision itself was buried within a 43-page document that was inconspicuous when viewed on a mobile device (*See Order Denying Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration at ¶ 9*). Lyft argues that these features are inherent in arbitration, but ignores that fact that South Carolina courts routinely analyze arbitration clauses for fairness. If courts were required to ignore every feature that makes arbitration clauses harsh on a consumer, then the unconscionability doctrine would have no meaningful role in such cases.

Lyft also relies heavily on 9 U.S.C. § 2, 9 U.S.C. § 3, and 9 U.S.C. § 4. However, the Federal Arbitration Act places arbitration agreements on equal footing with other contracts. *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011). It does not place arbitration clauses above generally applicable contract defenses, and does not require enforcement of an unconscionable contract clause. Lyft's own motion recognized that an arbitration agreement may be invalidated under contract principles applicable to the "revocation of any contract," citing *Shearson/Am. Express, Inc. v. McMahon*, 482 U.S. 220, 226 (1987).

Ultimately, the Circuit Court did not refuse to enforce arbitration because it disfavored arbitration. It refused enforcement because this particular arbitration provision, imposed through these particular Terms of Service, was unconscionable under South Carolina contract law. The lower court's rulings should be affirmed.

II. The Circuit Court did not err by addressing unconscionability because a court must determine whether an enforceable agreement exists before compelling a party out of court.

Lyft's principal appellate argument is that the Circuit Court erred by deciding gateway issues allegedly delegated to the arbitrator. That argument fails because a court must determine whether an enforceable arbitration agreement exists before compelling a party to arbitrate. Whether a contract or its clause is unconscionable raises a question of law. *Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 403 S.C. 10, 13, 742 S.E.2d 37, 39 (Ct. App. 2013).

Lyft's own motion stated that, under the FAA, a court generally first "determines whether a valid arbitration agreement exists," citing *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63, 67 (2019) (*See App's Motion to Compel Arbitration at ¶ 23*). Lyft's appellate brief likewise acknowledged that state law governs whether an agreement to arbitrate was formed, citing *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938, 944 (1995), and that South Carolina contract formation requires offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration, citing *Sauner v. Public Service Authority of South Carolina*, 354 S.C. 397, 406, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003).

That threshold principle matters here. Respondent challenged whether Lyft's arbitration clause could be enforced at all. Respondent argued that the Terms of Service were an adhesion contract, that Respondent lacked meaningful choice, that the terms could not be negotiated, that Section 15 was impermissibly onerous, and that the arbitration clause contained oppressive and one-sided terms (*See Resp's Memo in Opp at ¶¶ 7-10*). Those arguments went to enforceability under South Carolina contract law, not merely to the merits of the underlying tort claims.

Lyft cites 9 U.S.C. §§ 2, 3, and 4, but those provisions do not compel enforcement of an unconscionable agreement. Lyft relies upon 9 U.S.C. § 2, which states that written arbitration provisions in contracts involving commerce are "valid, irrevocable, and enforceable." Lyft also

cites 9 U.S.C. §§ 3-4 for the proposition that, when an action subject to arbitration is brought in court, the court shall direct the parties to proceed to arbitration. However, these FAA provisions presuppose the existence of an enforceable arbitration agreement. They do not eliminate generally applicable defenses such as unconscionability.

Lyft also relies heavily on delegation-clause authorities, such as *Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.*, 586 U.S. 63, 67 (2019). But such authorities do not require reversal of the lower court's decision. These authorities do not answer whether the arbitration arrangement imposed through Lyft's non-negotiable consumer Terms was enforceable. The subject delegation clause was not separately negotiated, separately presented, or separately accepted. It was embedded in the same mobile Terms that the Circuit Court found unconscionable. Lyft cannot avoid judicial review of unconscionability simply by inserting a delegation clause into the same arbitration provision it seeks to enforce.

Nor did Respondent waive her unconscionability argument by not specifically referring to the delegation clause in her opposition to Lyft's Motion to Compel Arbitration. Rather, Respondent expressly argued that the Terms of Service constituted a contract of adhesion, that Respondent lacked meaningful choice and could not negotiate the terms, and that the arbitration clause was therefore unconscionable and unenforceable (*See* Resp's Memo in Opp at ¶¶ 7-10). The lower court properly addressed the enforceability issue presented by Respondent and denied Lyft's motion.

III. Even if the delegation clause is considered, Lyft failed to establish reversible error because the trial court's Order rests on the absence of meaningful choice and oppressive terms contained in the arbitration agreement.

Lyft argues that the delegation clause is dispositive because the Terms provide that disputes about arbitrability, scope, applicability, enforceability, revocability, and validity must be decided by the arbitrator. But the presence of that language does not require reversal on this record.

First, the delegation language was part of the same adhesion contract the Circuit Court found unconscionable. The Circuit Court found that Lyft's Terms were non-negotiable, presented on a take-it-or-leave-it basis, and required for use of the Lyft app (*See* Order Denying Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration at ¶ 7). Under South Carolina law, a court may consider meaningful choice and oppressive terms in deciding unconscionability. The Circuit Court cited *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 25, 644 S.E.2d 663, 669 (2007) and *Gladden v. Boykin*, 402 S.C. 140, 148, 739 S.E.2d 882, 886 (2013) to support that unconscionability framework (*See* Order Denying Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration at ¶ 4).

Second, the Circuit Court found that the arbitration clause contained in Section 17 of Lyft's Terms of Service was unconscionable and therefore unenforceable (*See* Order Denying Motion to Stay and Compel Arbitration at ¶ 12). If the lower court found that the entirety of Section 17 was unconscionable, Lyft cannot now rely on a part of Section 17 – the delegation clause – to force arbitration when the Terms of Service as a whole have been deemed unconscionable. The court in *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, went as far to say that severing terms from an unconscionable contract of adhesion discourages fair, arms-length transactions and would encourage sophisticated parties to intentionally insert unconscionable terms in the contract. 437 S.C. 596, 604, 879 S.E.2d 746, 751 (2022). It has been established that the whole of Lyft's Terms of Service were unconscionable, and to force Respondent to arbitrate based upon an isolated subsection of those Terms would violate settled principles of South Carolina contract law.

Third, Appellants' reliance on *Doe v. TCSC, LLC* is distinguishable. In their brief, Lyft notes that while the court did enforce a delegation clause in this case, it also recognized that the specific clause did not mention *who* decides validity and enforceability issues – leaving the court to address unconscionability. *Doe v. TCSC, LLC*, 430 S.C. 602, 846 S.E.2d 874 (Ct. App. 2020). Although Section 17 of Lyft's Terms of Service states that it is the arbiter who may address issues of validity, enforceability, and arbitrability, the problem here is not merely the scope of the delegation language. The issue is that the delegation language was imposed through the same adhesive consumer Terms and arbitration clause that Circuit Court found unconscionable.

Fourth, Lyft's reliance on *Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson* does not defeat Respondent's challenge. Lyft cited this case as support for the rule that an agreement to arbitrate gateway issues is an additional antecedent agreement, and that a party resisting arbitration must challenge the delegation clause specifically. *Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 68-72 (2010). However, Respondent's opposition challenged the fairness and enforceability of Lyft's arbitration scheme as imposed through its Terms of Service. Respondent identified the non-negotiable nature of the Terms, lack of meaningful choice, Section 15's broad limitation of liability, waiver of jury trial, inability to appeal, inability to participate in a class action lawsuit, and inconspicuous placement of the arbitration provision. These objections apply with equal force to the delegation provision embedded within the same arbitration framework (*See* Resp's Memo in Opp at ¶¶ 7-10).

Finally, Lyft's own cited South Carolina trial-court materials show that Section 15 of the Terms of Service raise significant concern. In *Doris Lewis v. Lyft, Inc.*, the court compelled arbitration but expressly noted that Section 15 was not in Section 17 and "may well constitute an impermissibly onerous provision" if controlling, as Lyft would have essentially no liability under

any scenario. While that order is not binding, it does confirm that Lyft's Terms present the very unconscionability concerns of lack of meaningful choice and oppressive terms that the Circuit Court recognized here. *Doris Lewis v. Lyft, Inc., et al.*, No. 2023-CP-10-03260 (Ct. Com. Pl. Charleston Cnty., SC, Nov. 26, 2024).

IV. The Circuit Court's factual findings were supported by the record and should not be disturbed.

Lyft contends that the Circuit Court made incorrect factual findings, including findings that the arbitration clause was buried, inconspicuous, and part of an adhesion contract. However, the record supports the Circuit Court's findings.

The court's adhesion finding is supported by the very evidence that Lyft presents in its Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings. Lyft stated that a rider cannot complete the account creation process or purchase rideshare services through the Lyft app unless the person affirmatively accepts and agrees to be bound by Lyft's terms (*See App's Motion to Compel Arbitration at ¶ 10*). The Circuit Court found, based upon that reality, that the Terms were not negotiable and were presented on a take-it-or-leave-it basis.

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